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CHAIR DENIS: 
I will open the meeting of the Senate Committee on Education with 
Assembly Bill (A.B.) 110.  
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 110 (2nd Reprint): Revises provisions governing education. 

(BDR 34-327) 
 
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MELISSA WOODBURY (Assembly District No. 23): 
Assembly Bill 110 revises provisions relating to competency-based education 
(CBE). During the 2015-2016 Interim, I served as Chair of the Legislative 
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Committee on Education. Our Committee heard from the International 
Association for K–12 Online Learning (iNACOL), which is an organization with 
expertise in competency-based and distance education. At the Committee’s 
request, iNACOL examined Nevada’s current laws and regulations and offered 
recommendations for expanding best practices in Nevada, focusing primarily on 
CBE issues.   
 
Also during the Interim, the Office of the Governor received a technical 
assistance grant from the National Governors Association to convene a working 
group around CBE. Assembly Bill 110 incorporates the best-practice 
recommendations from iNACOL, as well as the lessons learned by the CBE 
working group. 
 
BRIAN MITCHELL (Director, Office of Science, Innovation and Technology, Office 

of the Governor):  
I have a presentation (Exhibit C) that will help illustrate this issue. The way we 
educate our kids now was designed in the late 1800s to cost-effectively and 
uniformly train factory workers. Today, a classroom does not look that much 
different than it did back then. Students arrive in class, listen to a lecture, 
receive assigned homework and return to class with the finished homework for 
review. This process repeats itself for a couple weeks until there is a quiz. Then 
the whole class moves together to the next subject, regardless of what the 
students learned and whether they were ready to move on.  
 
What would happen if we used this same method in building a house? Suppose 
you gave the contractor 2 weeks to do a foundation, as seen on page 4 of 
Exhibit C. Imagine that at the end of the 2 weeks, the foundation was 
90 percent done. Ninety percent is pretty good, so you instruct the contractor 
to move on to the walls and work. Two weeks later, the inspector comes and 
the contractor has 75 percent of the walls done. This is not great, but it is not 
bad. Then you move on to the second floor and when 60 percent of that floor is 
done, the contractor tries to put the roof on and the structure collapses and 
looks like the house on page 5, Exhibit C.  
 
Some people might say that if we had more frequent inspections, this would not 
have happened. Others might say we need to hire better contractors to do the 
work. What I think is that we need a better system that encourages mastery 
before we move on to the next topic. Intuitively, this makes sense, but we are 
not doing this in education. Yet, mastery education is not a new concept. For 
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example, in the boy scouts, you do not become an Eagle Scout without learning 
to tie your knots, page 6, Exhibit C.  
 
The way we educate our kids now limits their academic achievement by 
pushing forward many students who are not ready. On the other end of that 
spectrum, our system holds back students who are ready to move on. Many 
bright students are bored with school to the point where they do not do their 
homework and can fail in their classwork. However, they can ace the tests.  
 
Competency-based education is defined on page 8 of my presentation, 
Exhibit C. It is not being able to test out of a class and thus skipping that class. 
The International Association for K–12 Online Learning is one of the many 
thought leaders in this area, including the design areas listed on page 9, 
Exhibit C, in their definition of CBE.  
 
The U.S. Department of Education is also looking at CBE, page 10, Exhibit C, 
because it leads to better student engagement and outcomes since the content 
is always relevant and the pace is always right for each student. This system 
also allows teachers to identify early on what students need, so they can give 
them more time to master the fundamental concepts. It is a more personalized 
form of instruction.  
 
Nevada is only one of seven states with no statewide CBE policy, page 12, 
Exhibit C. The good news is, there are many other states experimenting with 
CBE that we can learn from. Competency-based education has varying names in 
different states—proficiency-based, performance-based or mastery-based—that 
all refer to essentially the same concept, page 13, Exhibit C.  
 
My office applied for a grant and we put together the Governor’s Competency 
Based Education Task Force with participants listed on page 14 of Exhibit C. We 
explored the topic of CBE and looked at best practices in other states, including 
their resources, page 15, Exhibit C. Representatives from the Task Force visited 
three states to see CBE in action, page 16, Exhibit C, and met with educators 
and leaders who had implemented the practice.  
 
One of the best examples of CBE was at Innovations Early College High School 
in Salt Lake City, a school with a 95 percent graduation rate. Ten percent of 
students at that school have an associate degree their junior year, and 
50 percent of students have an associate degree their senior year. This is a 
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neighborhood school that takes in the neighborhood population. Sixty percent of 
the school population is Free and Reduced-Price Lunch (FRL) and 
underrepresented minorities, and 13 percent of the students have an 
Individualized Education Plan.  
 
The CBE system works for all students, and A.B. 110 is aimed at developing 
whole school CBE in Nevada. We used the Idaho model to base this bill on, 
page 18, Exhibit C. The statewide awareness campaign was targeted to 
teachers, principals and superintendents to educate them about CBE. Next, we 
identified pilot sites throughout the State. These pilot sites are voluntary with 
each school designing its own CBE system, which would be aided through a 
competency-based network that we establish. Schools will need a 
demonstration of local support, and they will commit to participate in the 
network as well as implementing a school-wide, competency-based system 
within a five-year time period. After that time, we will reevaluate the system 
and make recommendations to the Legislature.   
 
DALE FROST (State Policy Director, International Association for K–12 Online 

Learning): 
We started with state virtual schools 17 years ago, and as the CBE field has 
progressed, we have moved to blended learning, personalized learning and 
competency-based learning. The International Association for K–12 Online 
Learning is one of the leaders in this work with more than 500 members 
worldwide. These innovative educators are creating student-centered learning 
environments. They are the experts and we learn from them. We convene one 
of the leading conferences of the year to educate the educators on how to do 
this work. You are invited. It is not easy to move from the traditional learning 
environment to student-centered learning. That is why A.B. 110 is so important.  
 
Moving toward CBE is a local reform. It is not something the State can 
mandate, but the State does have a crucial role which is to give flexibility to 
educators so they create learning environments that are best for students. The 
other crucial role for states is to provide support to build educator capacity, 
which is what A.B. 110 does.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
Some of us had the opportunity to see some of these schools. The one thing I 
saw at the Innovations Early College High SchooI in Salt Lake City was that 
these were not the overachiever kids in that school. Two things stood out to me 
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from my visit there. One was that the teachers were excited to be there. They 
did not sit in front of the classroom like you would expect. The kids hung out 
together in front of computers and the teachers would walk over to kids who 
needed help. Periodically, the teacher would have a group session about a topic. 
The kids seemed to be really engaged. It was a different way of doing 
education, but it made sense. Some of those kids were completing their high 
school math in a relatively short time period so they could focus on other things 
the rest of the time.  
 
The other thing that was interesting was that the school was connected to a 
community college, so they could take classes there, too. It was very innovative 
and exciting.  
 
PATRICK GAVIN (Executive Director, State Public Charter School Authority, 

Department of Education): 
We support A.B. 110 and look forward to seeing it as a new option for parents.  
 
NICOLE ROURKE (Associate Superintendent, Community and Government 

Relations, Clark County School District): 
We support this bill because we believe mastery learning is good for Nevada. 
We have some principals at Clark County School District (CCSD) who are 
interested in the pilot, so we look forward to the support of this Committee on 
A.B. 110. 
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
You also have a school that is kind of trying out CBE, right?  
 
MS. ROURKE: 
Yes, we have worked with some schools within the laws of Nevada, so we 
think this will help expand those opportunities.  
 
CHRIS DALY (Nevada State Education Association): 
We support A.B. 110 as amended to create this program for CBE. We had some 
concerns with the initial draft, but we appreciate the amendments, including the 
inclusion of educators and parents on the competency-based network. We feel 
this will help ensure that the implementation of CBE is done in a way to avoid 
any pitfalls.  
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BRETT BARLEY (Deputy Superintendent for Student Achievement, Department of 

Education): 
We are in full support of A.B. 110. 
 
SENATOR WOODHOUSE: 
I know this is the second reprint of the bill, but the Nevada Department of 
Education (NDE) has a small fiscal note on the bill. Has that been taken care of 
with the reprint? If so, I will have to pull it into the Senate Committee on 
Finance.   
 
MR. BARLEY: 
Let me check our notes and get back to you.  
 
MARY ALBER (Education Innovation Collaborative): 
I support A.B. 110 as a member of the community. I agree that it is a sleeper 
bill, and I believe it has a significant and transformative potential for education 
in Nevada. I have submitted my written testimony (Exhibit D).  
 
JUSTIN HARRISON (Las Vegas Metro Chamber of Commerce): 
We support this bill and we believe it brings innovation to our system and gives 
students the ability to achieve subject area mastery where they need it the 
most.  
 
ED GONZALEZ (Clark County Education Association): 
We support A.B. 110 because establishing a pilot program for CBE is a good 
move. We agree that this is a sleeper bill.  
 
MARY PIERCZYNSKI (Nevada Association of School Superintendents; Nevada 

Association of School Administrators): 
We support this bill. This is a nice opportunity for our students, and we like the 
approach of it being voluntary and implemented slowly to do it right.  
 
PAIGE RITZMAN (Nevada Association of School Boards):  
The Nevada Association of School Boards appreciates the local control of 
A.B. 110 and supports the bill.  
 
LINDSAY ANDERSON (Washoe County School District): 
We support A.B. 110.  
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MR. BARLEY:  
Back to Senator Woodhouse’s question, our fiscal note is based on the 
$1,500 appropriation to bring together the school districts and the NDE for the 
CBE network. If the bill is passed, the appropriation is in there, and that would 
cover the fiscal note. We will continue to work with the bill’s sponsor to limit 
the cost as much as we can.  
 
RAY BACON (Nevada Manufacturers Association): 
I like the bill conceptually, but I am testifying in neutral. I have been involved 
with Kahn Academy for several years, and it is in use in some of the schools in 
Nevada. There is one place where this program is partially implemented, and 
that is in the career and technical schools. Those schools are driving to a 
competency that is accepted by the industries they are targeting, so we have 
something that is already in place. In both northern Nevada and southern 
Nevada, Coral Academy is already working on a CBE program. It looks like these 
existing programs are being ignored in the bill. Those successes should be 
expanded and used as the model for others to follow.  
 
SENATOR HARRIS: 
The bill seems to be similar to the Idaho model of CBE in schools, but it is pretty 
nonspecific. I am curious if there are any thoughts to credit retrieval and to 
those children who might benefit from a CBE model in terms of being able to fill 
in their gaps in learning, particularly those children who are transient?   
 
MR. MITCHELL: 
Competency-based education is great for kids who can excel and move forward, 
but where A.B. 110 will do a lot of good is with students who are behind for 
the credit retrieval. No matter which schools apply to be pilot programs, they 
would have a host of students at different levels who would all benefit. In the 
schools we visited, we found a cross section where one student may excel in 
math, moving forward very quickly to finish his or her math requirements for 
high school, but that student may struggle with English and need the extra time 
in that subject.  
 
SENATOR HARRIS:  
In Idaho, there was a school in Ada County outside of Boise that catered to 
at-risk kids who were not going to graduate. Those students would come in, 
check in with their teacher and get lessons they needed to work on in a 
self-directed process. Has there been any consideration given to allowing 
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schools that have student populations with significant credit retrieval issues to 
be in the program?  
 
MR. MITCHELL: 
The NDE will set up the application process, and I would encourage the 
Department to collaborate with the schools to include at least one or 
two schools that focus on that population.  
 
MR. BARLEY:  
As we think about what personalized CBE learning could be in Nevada, we are 
looking at all students but specifically students in need of extra support. When I 
was teaching, the hardest thing to do was to reach the highest-achieving 
students and the lowest-achieving students. Figuring out where all your 
students are is hard. Programs like this help teachers do what they want to do 
and hit every kid in the classroom at their unique need.  
 
One of the leaders in this work is a nonprofit, Summit Public Schools and 
Summit Learning. They have a personalized CBE platform. Especially with their 
lowest-performing students in the bottom quartile, those students are learning 
on average 2 years of content over a single academic year. That is evidence 
that when done right, this program accelerates all students, especially our 
lowest-performing students.  
 
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WOODBURY: 
I heard technology mentioned, and I wanted to mention that CBE is not 
technology-based education. Technology can be used not at all or a lot based on 
the model chosen, but it does not replace a teacher. After this bill got out of the 
Assembly Committee on Education, it went to the Assembly Committee on 
Ways and Means and we asked for $3,000 for travel for the biennium. That is 
how section 3.5 got into the bill.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
I will close the hearing on A.B. 110 and open A.B. 447. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 447 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to Victory 

schools. (BDR S-717) 
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ASSEMBLYMAN TYRONE THOMPSON (Assembly District No. 17): 
Assembly Bill 447 revises provisions relating to Victory schools, which were 
established during the Seventy-eighth Legislative Session to provide additional 
funding for underperforming schools with the lowest student achievement levels 
in the 20 poorest zip codes of the State. In the 2015-2016 school year, 35 
schools were designated as Victory schools in Clark, Elko, Humboldt, Nye and 
Washoe Counties. Since its implementation, preliminary studies have shown 
positive return on investment (ROI) and outcomes of providing literacy and 
wraparound support services to our most vulnerable, low-income and FRL 
students.  
 
An external evaluation report, Nevada External Outcomes Evaluation, was 
prepared in December 2016 by ACS Ventures, LLC; the University of Nevada, 
Las Vegas; and MYS Project & Brand Management. The report recommended 
the continuation of Victory schools and noted that evidence suggests the 
program is reaching its target populations of schools in areas of high poverty. 
The evaluation also reported that teacher transiency across Victory schools has 
dropped, which is good because having consistent teachers in classrooms of 
poverty is a predictive variable for student outcomes. 
 
“The majority of participating school districts actively engaged the community 
and critical partners in the development of Victory Schools plans,” the report 
stated. “In total, 235 professional development activities were provided for 
teachers and staff members on Victory Schools campuses. These activities 
spanned a total of 14 professional development categories.” 
 
Finally, the report found that Victory school funds allowed schools and teachers 
to be flexible in the way that they designed interventions. Overall, the 
stakeholders had a positive opinion about the impact the Victory schools 
initiative was having on their school environment.  
 
Assembly Bill 447 will ensure funding for Victory schools will continue for the 
next biennium. A majority of the funds must be used for evidence-based 
programs, integrated student supports and wraparound services. Further, 
A.B. 447 requires consultation with a school district when designating a Victory 
school. 
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CHAIR DENIS: 
On the last page of the bill, there is a definition for evidence-based student 
supports, but then on page 5, section 1, subsection 8, paragraph (h), it says 
“evidence-based programs, integrated student supports,” so it is separated. Was 
that intentional? 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: 
Absolutely. There are three distinct areas—evidence-based programs, integrated 
student supports and wraparound services. If we were to say evidence-based 
integrated student support, that would lock out all the programs in the 
community that are very grassroots, and they would not be able to be a part of 
the Victory school programs. There have to be three distinct areas. We do need 
to tighten up the language on page 8, and I am open to that.  
 
SENATOR HARRIS:  
It sounds like you are saying that the integrated student supports are those 
community-based inputs and supports that will best meet those children’s 
needs.  
 
ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: 
Absolutely. One example is that Communities in Schools has made a significant 
difference working with Mary & Zel Lowman Elementary School and 
Jacob E. Manch Elementary School, two schools close to the Nellis Air Force 
Base that have teamed up in a very poverty-stricken community.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
I want to ask our Committee counsel if there is a way we could true up that 
definition on page 8? 
 
ASHER KILLIAN (Counsel): 
We could revise the definitions to make them match.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
Do we have enough information to do this if we were to pass the bill out today? 
 
MR. KILLIAN: 
Yes. 
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MS. ANDERSON: 
We support this bill. We have four Victory schools in the Washoe County 
School District—one high school, one elementary school with our highest 
number of homeless students, a charter school and a rural Native-American 
school. All our Victory schools are unique, which is what the Victory program 
was set up to serve. The schools are allowed to develop a plan with their 
communities that best meets the needs of their schools. The beauty of this 
program is the community buy-in and the flexibility given to the schools to be 
able to develop their own tailored plan.  
 
MS. ROURKE: 
We support A.B. 447. We have 24 Victory schools within the CCSD, two of 
which are District-sponsored charter schools. The other 22 Victory schools are 
CCSD schools. In those schools, we have seen an average increase of 
21.59 percent in the number of students proficient in English Language Arts. 
The highest increase in those schools is 42.5 percent. This means it is working 
and we are pleased. We have similar results in math, including a 37.5 percent 
increase in the number of students proficient in math, the highest of which was 
62 percent. We do have a friendly amendment (Exhibit E). We would like the 
Committee to consider the addition of one item to the optional expenditures 
category to “provide additional instruction or other learning opportunities at 
schools within the feeder pattern of a Victory high school.”  
 
Within the evaluation report I referred to, when they interviewed Principal 
Ramona Esparza from Valley High School, she made the case for reaching to 
middle schools and to her school feeder pattern to assist those eighth grade 
students who really needed some assistance in their bridge to high school. The 
current expenditures do not allow for that, so I have asked her to be here today.  
 
RAMONA ESPARZA (Principal, Valley High School, Clark County School District): 
I so appreciate the resources provided through the Victory school program. This 
ROI has made a significant difference in the success of our students at Valley 
High School (VHS). The reason I requested the amendment is because looking 
at my feeder pattern schools, there is one site that comes in with kids who are 
two and three grade levels behind proficiency. This becomes a greater challenge 
for us to receive these students as incoming eighth graders. I want to create 
innovative reaches into that school community and get those students to do 
something like a summer bridge pattern to get them prepped and ready for VHS.  
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We need to do things that are very different within our communities of poverty. 
When we look at academics, yes, we can provide remediation and intervention 
for these students through the summer, but it is bigger than that. We need to 
also provide our students with the wraparound services they need for their 
social and emotional wellness, and to help them really understand the culture of 
transitioning to a high school.  
 
I want to help bridge these students to be successful in what it is to be a high 
school student and how we can get pathways set up for them for their 
academic plans.  
 
Thinking about enrichment, at VHS we increased the participation for our 
advanced placement coursework, which has been a big shift for all our 
students. If I can reach into our feeder schools and make them understand that 
they have the capacity to do those classes and maybe have them take some 
advanced coursework, it will enrich their ability to earn those credits for college.  
 
The piece for family engagement is also important. We have done many 
different things with our families to engage them in the process of getting their 
kids ready for high school and graduation, but we need to have the conversation 
with the families about what it takes to get their kids to graduate and consider 
postsecondary education. That conversation is lacking now within some of our 
middle schools. We need to be proactive with our highest needs and English 
language learner students, even at the sixth grade level. We want to 
collaborate, articulate and provide professional development to get those kids 
proficient so when they come to me, we can have more of our students earning 
college credit, not just graduating from high school.   
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
Where it says, “provide additional instruction or other learning opportunities at 
schools within the feeder pattern of a Victory high school,” how do you 
envision that working?  
 
MS. ESPARZA: 
We would like to be proactive and target students who are at risk in middle 
school. What we did this year was look at our ninth graders’ incoming 
attendance patterns, grades and behaviors. We then did home visits at the 
beginning of the school year to inform parents of our available wraparound 
services, but the ideal would be doing this in the summer instead of waiting 



Senate Committee on Education 
May 23, 2017 
Page 14 
 
until when school starts in August. That way, we could tell families of our 
summer bridge programs and encourage parents to get their kids enrolled and 
ready for success, so we can give them those values and study habits that will 
prepare them for high school. We know the trajectory of those kids who are 
failing in middle school is not good, and we want to be proactive and work with 
them as soon as possible.  
 
Additionally, we need to have a real conversation about what is not being 
successful at the middle school level. What can we do to help those teachers 
with what we call Level 1 instruction? Having my high school teachers work 
with those middle school teachers, sharing successful strategies with each 
other, paying them for collaboration time, would be a great reciprocal activity.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
Would the resources go to you, and then you would coordinate with middle 
school principals to create these programs? Are all your feeder schools Victory 
schools?  
 
MS. ESPARZA:  
None of my feeder schools are Victory schools. I requested this because they 
need resources like professional development and materials.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
Do you have an idea of what the cost would be? 
 
MS. ROURKE: 
We could get an estimate. The idea was that once the schools got their 
allocation, they could work with their communities to identify specific needs. 
They would need the flexibility to provide services both at the high school and 
the middle schools. 
 
RICKY GOURRIER (Communities in Schools Nevada) 
Communities in Schools Nevada is the largest integrated community service 
provider in the State. We have programs in Elko, northern Nevada and 
Las Vegas in Victory schools. As Assemblyman Thompson was discussing 
earlier, the three different areas—evidence-based programs, integrated student 
supports and wraparound services—can actually be the same. The reason they 
were broken out was that the Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015 (ESSA) 
requires programs to be based on evidence to have money spent on them. 
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Integrated student support is one of those evidence-based programs. 
Wraparound services was considered more of a community-based program. In 
Assemblyman Thompson’s district, there were faith-based organizations with 
tutoring programs and after-school programs, and things along those lines. 
Those three areas can be separated, but they can also be combined. We support 
A.B. 447.  
 
SYLVIA LAZOS (Policy Director, Educate Nevada Now): 
We support this bill and appreciate the bipartisan effort on this equity program 
that has had significant ROI and is a true example of how we turn around our 
poorest-performing schools. The Rogers Foundation works closely with 
West Preparatory Academy in the CCSD. The Victory school program has made 
this a true partnership, where you have philanthropy investing additional funds 
along with the Victory funds to provide some of the basics. It is that public 
investment that we are making in some of these poorly performing schools that 
is turning around schools. Principal Esparza has been truly creative in improving 
outcomes, and this is the hallmark of the Victory program that encourages this 
type of collaboration.  
 
MS. PIERCZYNSKI:  
We support A.B. 447. Our rural school districts have all benefitted from the 
Victory program, including Elko, West Wendover, Humboldt County and 
Nye County. Those schools have all benefitted from this money and the 
opportunity for the additional tutoring and help the teachers have been given in 
those schools.  
 
YVETTE WILLIAMS (Chair, Clark County Black Caucus): 
I left a meeting to be here today because we wholeheartedly support A.B. 447. 
The work of this Committee toward equity in the schools is appreciated and 
commendable, but we do have a couple concerns. 
 
Currently, we have 25 Victory schools and there are approximately 
5,500 African-American students, so you can see that there is an inequity of 
access to Victory schools that are supposed to serve students who are the least 
proficient with the highest poverty. We have one Victory high school and then 
there is Desert Rose Adult High School, which is a credit deficiency school. 
I want to recognize Principal Esparza from VHS who has done a fabulous job at 
that school, bringing it up to a 3-Star rating. That proves how important this 
program is.  
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We are concerned with the amount of funding. Ms. Esparza’s proposal to reach 
out is a good idea, but I am concerned about the funding because we still have 
so many schools we need to bring into the Victory schools program. We would 
like to see at least two of our North Las Vegas high schools with large 
African-American populations and some of the lowest proficiency rates in the 
State come into the program. I love the feeder idea, but if we already have an 
inequity or an underrepresentation of students by race, I would be concerned 
that when we get into the feeder pattern, we could amplify that problem. I hope 
you will consider any amendments carefully and make sure that a Victory school 
is available to more of the students who desperately need this kind of program.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
This bill is just the policy side of this issue. The funding part is in a different bill. 
I understand your point about ensuring equity.  
 
KELLY CROMPTON (City of Las Vegas); 
We support this bill. The City of Las Vegas has a number of Victory schools. In 
August 2016, we partnered with CCSD to launch Reinvent Schools Las Vegas. 
This program identifies and focuses on academic achievement and community 
engagement, just like the Victory schools.   
 
MR. GONZALEZ: 
We support this bill, the Victory school concept and the continued support for 
wraparound services in both the Victory schools and Senate Bill (S.B.) 178, 
which was passed by both Houses this Session. This service is important to our 
students’ success.  
 
SENATE BILL 178: Revises provisions relating to the funding formula for K-12 

public education. (BDR 34-792) 
 
MR. HARRISON: 
We continue to support the Victory schools program. It was something the 
Chamber supported since its inception during the 2015 Session.  
 
MS. RITZMAN: 
The Nevada Association of School Boards supports this bill and looks forward to 
the continuation of the Victory program to reach as many students as possible.  
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MR. DALY: 
We support A.B. 447. Victory schools have quickly taken their place alongside 
Zoom schools as a model of what is going right in Nevada’s public schools. 
Victory schools have provided a program of successful interventions for at-risk 
students that include prekindergarten programs, summer academies, 
professional development for teachers, reading skill centers, integrated student 
supports and wraparound services; health care services for pupils and their 
families, parent engagement programs and programs to improve school climate 
and culture. Preliminary results have shown positive improvement in student 
performance. Victory schools, Zoom schools and the new weighted funding 
formula proposal will ensure that we are all getting together to ensure we are 
delivering the highest quality public education for every Nevada student.  
 
MR. BARLEY: 
We support this bill for all the reasons already articulated.  
 
MR. GAVIN: 
We support A.B. 447 and appreciate its advocacy for equity and accountability 
in our State.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
What I heard from testimony is that there are a couple things we need to 
amend. How do you feel about the amendment to the feeder schools, Exhibit E? 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: 
I support it, but I was thinking about adding a little bit more after listening 
today. I would say, “Provide additional instruction or other learning opportunities 
within the feeder pattern of a Victory high school at schools that are not 
designated Victory schools.” I added those last six words because what we 
have done previously is that we wanted to ensure that if students are Victory 
school students, they cannot overlap into a Zoom school. That is why I want to 
make that designation. In addition, if the feeder school is a Victory school, it 
should not preclude both of those campuses from working together. It is 
awesome if those campuses can work together, and the best example is the 
partnership between Manch and Lowman elementary schools in District 17. 
They did a great job combining their separate $1 million allotments per school, 
working with the community and bringing everyone together. 
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I have to add on the record that it is coincidental that Principal Esparza is 
testifying today because I am a Valley Viking from 1985, where I was student 
body president. I am proud of VHS and have talked to those students, and I am 
happy to hear the school moved from a 2-Star to a 3-Star school in the last 
2 years. I would be good with a cleanup of that part of the amendment.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
I want to make sure the CCSD is okay with that addition to the amendment.  
 
MS. ROURKE: 
Yes, we are fine with that. It makes sense. We can include professional 
development as one of the expenditures as well. As Ms. Esparza referenced 
earlier, if they wanted to bring together a team of teachers from the middle 
schools and the high school, they could pay those teachers after school. In the 
amendment, Exhibit E, we could say, “provide additional instruction, 
professional development or other learning opportunities … .” 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: 
We want to ensure that this is in section 1, subsection 9 of A.B. 447. In that 
bill, section 1, subsection 8 is where the majority of the money has to be 
expended.  
 
I am proud of what Victory schools have done and will continue to do. 
One thing that is important is that it is not just us saying it is great. We also 
have the third-party evaluation expressing the need to continue this program.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
Between the Zoom and Victory programs, one is prescriptive and one is not. I 
think this difference gives us an opportunity to really look to see what really 
helps these kids.  
 

SENATOR WOODHOUSE MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS 
AMENDED A.B. 447 WITH PROPOSED AMENDMENT FROM CCSD.   
 
SENATOR HAMMOND SECONDED THE MOTION.  
 
THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.  

 
***** 
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CHAIR DENIS: 
I will reopen the hearing on A.B. 110, the bill we just heard pertaining to the 
pilot program on CBE. Senator Harris has some suggestions for that bill.   
 
SENATOR HARRIS: 
My suggestion centers around the conversation I had with Mr. Barley and 
Mr. Mitchell on the record on being able to utilize CBE for at-risk students who 
need credit retrieval or who need to fill the gaps in their education. My 
amendment would be to require the pilot program to have at least one school in 
the undercredit category to be in the program. 
 
MR. MITCHELL: 
To clarify, you want to specify that type of school is an option? Or, do you 
want to require the NDE to have one school in that category? 
 
SENATOR HARRIS: 
Yes, I want to require that one school in that criteria be able to participate in the 
pilot program.  
 
MR. MITCHELL: 
And if no schools apply? 
 
SENATOR HARRIS: 
Then you are exempt.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
In other words, we would like to have one school in that criteria, but if one does 
not apply because this is not mandatory, then we would need an ability to 
exempt them out. I see our legal counsel nodding.  
 
SENATOR HARRIS: 
So, if there were interest from a school catering to at-risk, credit-deficient 
children, at least one of those types of schools would be allowed to participate 
in the pilot program? If no schools in that criteria apply, then there is a waiver 
to that action.  
 
MR. MITCHELL: 
That is fine with me. I will talk to Assemblywoman Woodbury about that.  
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CHAIR DENIS: 
We will make sure to contact her also.   
 

SENATOR HARRIS MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 
A.B. 110.  
 
SENATOR HAMMOND SECONDED THE MOTION.  
 
THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.  

 
***** 

 
CHAIR DENIS: 
I will now open A.B. 49.  
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 49 (1st Reprint): Makes various changes relating to charter 

schools. (BDR 34-255) 
 
MR. GAVIN: 
Section 1 and section 2 of the bill clarify language related to how a charter 
school can qualify for the alternative performance framework. We have worked 
on this through contractual amendments with Beacon Academy of Nevada as 
part of their turnaround plan. It is something other schools are also interested in. 
Based on consultation with K-12, Inc. and Connections Education LLC, we have 
clarifying language in the amendment to clean up the amendment.  
 
Section 5 related to the confidentiality of certain information provided to a 
charter school sponsor. We amended this language to clarify that any 
information provided to a sponsor is subject to the public records requirements 
while also providing that in the event something is proprietary or confidential, 
there is a mechanism to permit the sponsor to keep that information 
confidential. The most obvious example of that would be something like audited 
financial statements for a vendor, generally considered confidential in most 
purchasing matters. Since we are not the actual signatory on that contract, 
there were questions raised about whether submitting that information to us 
would allow it to remain confidential. We do not want schools to be in the 
position where they are violating the confidences of their vendors.  
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Section 6 through section 10 related to mechanisms for individuals to file 
complaints related to charter schools. The intent is to ensure there is a 
consistent and clear mechanism for parents and others to file a complaint with a 
charter school and its governing body in a process that has to be outlined for 
those to be investigated. If the matter is of such seriousness or gravity, it can 
be escalated to the sponsor or to other entities like the Office of the Attorney 
General. We also wanted to provide that there is a mechanism by which the 
cost of such investigations can be reimbursed by schools, subject to review by 
a court.  
 
There were changes proposed by K-12, Inc., and Connections Education LLC 
that were thoughtful. Notably, clarifying that a parent or guardian or a member 
of the governing body or other person is filing a complaint concerning that 
particular charter. For example, a parent at one charter school in Elko should not 
be in a position to file a complaint against a school in Carson City.  
 
Additionally, in relation to reimbursement, changes provide that there is some 
mechanism for the court to determine the reasonableness of the reimbursement 
level to discourage fishing expeditions.  
 
Section 11.5 provides for the first time that a parent is to be notified by his or 
her school if there are consistent performance issues with a charter school. 
There have been occasions where parents were not aware that their school 
could close based on consistent performance issues. We wanted to ensure that 
schools had a mechanism where they had to update their Websites or other 
marketing materials so that both new parents and those with children already in 
those schools have real notice so they can consider other options. It is terrible 
when parents do not find out about something until June because that puts 
them in a catch-22 situation.  
 
Section 12 and section 13 address a mechanism for charter schools to get 
expedited review to offer alternative routes to licensure. This is something the 
charter school community was interested in as a mechanism for ensuring that 
we provide as many options as possible to increase the teacher pipeline in the 
State.  
 
Starting with section 14, we are talking about areas related to the governance 
and operation of the State Public Charter School Authority (SPCSA). The most 
material of these in section 16 is changing the appointment mechanism for the 
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executive director from a three-year term appointed by the SPCSA Board to 
make it identical to the State Superintendent position. This way, there would be 
three candidates proposed by the SPCSA Board, and the final selection would 
be made by the Governor. This would also allow, for the first time, for the 
removal of the executive director for poor behavior.  
 
In section 21, there were areas of concern raised about the potential for 
contacts between someone bidding for a business, which is essentially what is 
happening when you are applying for a charter contract, and the external 
reviewers we are required to use by statute. This was a mechanism to provide 
that the identities of such individuals remain confidential for five years. This is 
similar to what occurs in other purchasing situations to ensure that vendors are 
not aware of who is making the selection.  
 
Section 24 clarifies language from S.B. No. 509 of the 78th Session. We 
discussed the concept that a charter school operates in elementary, middle or 
high school. In the final drafting of that bill, the language was “is” which 
created some confusion whether this works only in the case of a school that is 
exclusively an elementary, middle or high school versus the entire charter 
because a charter is defined by statute as the entire K-12 or K-8 or Grades 6-8 
structure approved by a sponsor.  
 
If this is something the Committee feels it would be helpful to clarify, I think it 
is appropriate for a school to preemptively identify that it has an 
underperforming elementary program, a middle school program, a high school 
program, and propose prior to the issuance of an intention to revoke the charter 
that it wishes to amend its charter to eliminate the low-performing portion of 
the school. That way, the school would be in a position to determine its own 
fate. The critical piece is that there has to be some mechanism for ensuring that 
the school remains financially viable without saying simply that, okay, you are 
going to double in size. What we have seen around the Country when this 
happens is that when a school eliminates one band of grade levels and then has 
to double in size to meet its bond requirements, it upsets the apple cart because 
you typically have tenuous improvements going on in that other section, and it 
gets completely disrupted by bringing in a whole new cohort of kids who have 
not been acculturated to the school. That is in the amendment we provided 
(Exhibit F).  
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SENATOR HARRIS:  
What is the definition of a high-quality charter school?  
 
MR. GAVIN:  
The previous enabling legislation for the charter schools program, which 
amended the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 five years ago, and then the 
ESSA both contained definitions for what an academically low-performing 
charter school is and what a high-performing charter school is, consistent under 
federal law. We had thought to put these definitions in our initial proposal for 
this bill, but staff felt that was superfluous. If this Committee feels otherwise, 
we could put those more specific definitions into the bill’s language.  
 
SENATOR HARRIS: 
So we are defaulting to a federal definition? 
 
MR. GAVIN:  
Yes.  
 
SENATOR HARRIS: 
In section 6, where subsection 2 references investigations about complaints, it 
says that different agencies may or may not perform them. In section 7, 
subsection 4, it says that presumably the NDE is going to be investigating and 
will be able to make findings, as will law enforcement. Are there any other 
parties that are able to conduct investigations? 
 
MR. GAVIN: 
In some cases, we have had to use outside expertise. In two cases where there 
were serious allegations of financial mismanagement, we used Deloitte, a 
professional services company that conducted the review on our behalf. There 
were limits on how much information they could provide because of our 
statutory ban on indemnifying third parties for that kind of work. Similarly, there 
are ample cases for other local education agencies. If you were investigating 
academic dishonesty or cheating, you would want a third party to investigate. If 
indemnification is something you wanted to put on the table, we could certainly 
add that language. 
 
SENATOR HARRIS:  
Do other states provide indemnification for outside parties that might conduct 
investigations of charter schools? 



Senate Committee on Education 
May 23, 2017 
Page 24 
 
MR. GAVIN:  
In most states, it is an option that the charter school agency has the discretion 
to use. They would typically do it under attorney-client privilege with in-house 
counsel. The District of Columbia Public Charter School Board has done both in 
its investigations of schools where there has been evidence of serious fraud or 
malfeasance.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
Did you address the amendment? 
 
MR. GAVIN:  
The one from Melissa Mackedon? 
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
Yes.  
 
MR. GAVIN:  
No, she could present it now.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
Do you support the amendment? 
 
MR. GAVIN:  
Broadly, yes. If there were areas that would create fiscal impact, we are more 
than willing to work to tweak those. We generally support the amendment, 
particularly some mechanism to allow at least a subset of schools to be allowed 
to be their own local education agency (LEA). That is a consistent issue we 
have heard from operators who want to come to Nevada and potentially be 
sponsored by the SPCSA, because that piece of our regulatory framework 
makes us less attractive. Given our present funding environment and other 
considerations, it is one of the many things that can layer on as an issue.  
 
MELISSA MACKEDON (Oasis Academy): 
I am on the boards of both the SPCSA and the College of Southern Nevada, but 
I am here as the administrator of Oasis Academy. I submitted a friendly 
amendment (Exhibit G). Each of the four sections pertain to individual charter 
schools, and each has the potential to improve operations at a school and 
outcomes for students.  
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Section 38, starting on page 2, allows a charter to be its own LEA. Our 
colleagues in the Achievement School District (ASD) are granted this status. 
Most successful charter management organizations (CMO) like those the ASD 
has attracted and those the SPCSA hopes to attract are not CMOs interested in 
replicating in a state where charters are not their own LEA because it leaves 
thousands of dollars of funding out of reach. Even my own school, Oasis 
Academy, in Churchill County has been negatively affected by this issue.  
 
We have had up to 30 percent of our students federally connected at Naval Air 
Station Fallon, yet because we are not our own LEA, those dollars are not 
available to us. These students are often impacted academically and emotionally 
because they have moved around every two to three years, and they have 
possibly had a parent who is deployed. Having access to those dollars would 
help us better serve those students.  
 
It is my humble opinion that a charter has more capacity than the SPCSA to 
administer those funds in compliance with all of the regulations. This is why 
charter schools in our neighboring state, at the very least, have the option to 
become their own LEAs.   
 
MR. GAVIN:  
I am completely in support of the thrust of each of the things Ms. Mackedon 
just mentioned, particularly regarding the LEA matter. The vast majority of our 
neighboring states provide for this already, if not as a mandate, as an option. 
The only nearby state that does not do this is Colorado, which has put other 
mechanisms into its law that increases the funding equity. In the East, the 
District of Columbia, Massachusetts, New Jersey and New York all do their 
charter schools, either in statute or in common practice, as LEAs. 
 
There are only four places in the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) where the term 
“local education agency” is mentioned, depending on where it sits in the body 
of the law. One of those places is in the statute that creates the SPCSA and 
calls us an LEA. The other is NRS 388B, which references the achievement 
charter schools and says they are their own LEA. The third is in what appears to 
be model language adopted from other states related to services for 
military-connected children.  
 
Finally, there is one other area added in the 2015 Legislative Session in 
NRS  388 providing that for the purposes of designating a hearing officer, either 
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the LEA, in the case of the school district, or the charter school itself pays the 
cost for that hearing officer. In that case, there effectively is parity between the 
charter and the school district. I think the language contemplates a significant 
transition period and that schools would earn their way toward this versus 
something that happens overnight. It could not happen for any existing school 
until the beginning of the next biennium to provide for appropriate transition. 
We are close to the end of Session, though, so if this is something you wish to 
put off or consider as a pilot, there are a lot of different ways we could do it.  
 
CHAIR DENIS: 
In the amendment, Exhibit G, in section 39, subsection 1, paragraph (d), what 
does that mean?  
 
MR. GAVIN:  
This is a provision in the ESSA where states can allow a K-8 school and a high 
school down the street, perhaps under the same governing body with 
two different charters or perhaps just neighbors, to have a mechanism for 
students to have an agreement between them to have a student enrolled versus 
having to go through a lottery. It is a mechanism to provide continuity of care 
for a student when there is a break in schools. It is the same as a feeder pattern 
in a school district.  
 
SENATOR WOODHOUSE: 
I have questions on these amendments, but I have to go to another meeting so 
we will check offline.  
 
PAT HICKEY (Executive Director, Charter School Association of Nevada): 
We support A.B. 49 and appreciate the discussions that have occurred even at 
the last minute here with the amendments, which we are happy with as well.  
 
MR. GONZALEZ: 
We support this bill because it strengthens accountability. In section 14 and 
section 24, the language holds the charter schools accountable to the same 
standard as public schools when it comes to achievement. We also appreciate 
section 11.5, which obligates poorly performing charter schools to let parents 
and students know that is happening. We believe in accountability and want to 
hold public schools and charter schools to the same standard.   
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MACKENZIE HEMPE (Friends of Academy for Career Education Charter High 

School):  
I am representing Friends of Academy for Career Education (ACE) Charter High 
School, a career technical education school in Reno. At ACE, we support 
A.B. 49 to better define and clarify licensure required for construction teachers 
in section 26 of the bill.  
 
LORNE MALKIEWICH (K-12, Inc.): 
We have issues with the bill, starting with section 9 which pertains to charging 
a charter school for the cost of an investigation. We would prefer this be 
deleted. At the very least, the court should be given discretion to determine if 
there is a minor infraction. 
 
Section 11.5 appeared at the last minute in the Assembly and did not get a 
chance for public testimony. It is particularly concerning to online charter 
schools. There is a provision that says if your graduation rate falls from 
67 percent to 66 percent, you need to notify students of all the schools they 
can transfer to. If you are an online statewide charter school, that is every 
school in the State.  
 
In section 14, we do not believe the general statement of the climate for all 
schools needs to have “high-quality” added to it.  
 
In section 24, the change from “is” to “operates” means that if you operate 
two stellar schools and one that is below average, the only option for the 
SPCSA is to revoke your charter. We think that section should be changed.  
 
JOHN SANDE IV (Connections Education): 
I echo the concerns Mr. Malkiewich just mentioned. I have an amendment, 
(Exhibit H) with changes to section 1 of the bill, and the second part of the 
amendment clarifies that a contract with a charter authority cannot require a 
party to waive their legal rights to judicial review. I have submitted my written 
testimony (Exhibit I).  
 
MR. BACON: 
I have some concern in section 9 of the bill where it calls for the use of external 
expertise. Based on some incidents we have had in the past, I would think that 
external expert should be required to have knowledge of Nevada law, Nevada 
school law and ideally be a Nevada resident. We had one case where an 
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external review person came from elsewhere and we had some problems. Other 
than that, this is a huge improvement. 
 
MR. BARLEY:  
We received an amendment to this bill that would ask the NDE to support 
charter schools as they transition into a new LEA status, Exhibit G. I have not 
had enough time to consult with everyone in the Department but will continue 
to do that and to work with the sponsor on the bill.  
 
CRAIG M. STEVENS (Clark County School District): 
Due to some of the amendments, we are neutral. In section 38 of the 
amendment submitted by Oasis Academy, Exhibit G, we believe this issue 
needs to be discussed further, maybe in the Interim. Making something an LEA 
is a big decision and needs to be fully vetted. The federal obligation to what this 
means and how it affects federal funding is important to consider.  
 
In section 40, for a nonprofit or for-profit company becoming political 
subdivisions, we are not sure what that means. I know this is a land issue. How 
will land be provided? Can it be sold? Can it be leased back to the charter? How 
will there be oversight? Who owns the land? We have many questions, and we 
only just saw this amendment. 
 
MR. GAVIN:  
The intent behind the amendments we proposed today, Exhibit F, was to 
address at least two of the issues Mr. Malkiewich brought up, most notably the 
issue related to the perverse incentives for the reimbursement piece. The key is 
that we believe it is important that parents have information to make the right 
choices. It may be challenging for an online school to deal with that issue, but I 
would note that virtually all their communication with parents is online.  
 
Regarding the amendment proposed by Connections Education, Exhibit H, which 
they proposed independently, we respectfully disagree. These are matters 
currently subject to litigation, so I am not in a position to discuss the subject in 
great detail except to say I disagree with the characterizations made in relation 
to both those matters.  
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CHAIR DENIS: 
I received a letter from Mike MeCey from Nevada Parents for Online Education 
in opposition to A.B 49 that I will submit (Exhibit J). I will close the hearing on 
A.B. 49 and open public comment. 
 
BRAD KEATING (Clark County School District): 
The Advisory Council on Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics 
and the Governor’s Office of Science, Innovation and Technology (STEM) last 
week announced that six CCSD schools have been named as Nevada Governor 
Designated STEM Schools. The following CCSD schools received this 
prestigious designation: Advanced Technologies Academy, Cashman Middle 
School, Ed W. Clark High School, Hyde Park Middle School, McCaw STEAM 
Academy and Walter Bracken STEAM Academy. We are proud of the work 
these schools are doing and proud to honor them as the inaugural class of the 
Governor’s STEM Schools. 
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CHAIR DENIS: 
I will now close the hearing of the Senate Committee on Education at 5:38 p.m.  
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A.B. 110 D 2 Mary Alber / Education 
Innovation Collaborative Written Testimony 

A.B. 447 E 1 Nicole Rourke / Clark 
County School District Proposed Amendment 

A.B. 49 F 5 Patrick Gavin /State Public 
Charter School Authority  Conceptual Amendment 

A.B. 49 G 4 Melissa Mackedon / 
Oasis Academy Proposed Amendment  

A.B. 49 H 2 John Sande IV / 
Connections Education Conceptual Amendment 

A.B. 49 I 3 John Sande IV / 
Connections Education Written Testimony 

A.B. 49 J 1 Mike MeCey / Nevada 
Parents for Online Education Letter of Opposition 

 


